ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE COMMUNI TY AND REG ONAL AFFAI RS STANDI NG COWM TTEE
March 25, 2010
3:39 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Donald 4 son, Chair
Senat or Joe Thomas, Vice Chair
Senat or Linda Menard

VEMBERS ABSENT

Senator Hollis French
Senat or Al bert Kookesh

COWM TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO. 201
"An Act relating to the municipal property tax exenption on
residences of certain seniors and others; and providing for an
effective date.”

- HEARD AND HELD

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: SB 201
SHORT TI TLE. MUNI Cl PAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTI ONS
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) MENARD, HUGG NS

01/ 19/ 10 (S) PREFI LE RELEASED 1/ 8/ 10

01/ 19/ 10 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 19/ 10 (S) CRA, FIN

03/ 25/ 10 (S) CRA AT 3:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

W TNESS REG STER

M CHAEL ROVI TO

Aide to Senator Menard

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented SB 201.

RAYMOND ROBERTS

Representing hinsel f
Ket chi kan, AK

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -1- March 25, 2010



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 201.

ED ZASTROW presi dent

AARP

Ket chi kan, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 201.

STEVE VAN SANT, state assessor
Anchor age, AK
POSI Tl ON STATEMENT: Provided i nformati on on SB 201.

KELLY TAYLOR, deputy director

Property Appraisa

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

Anchor age, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 201.

NI CK BUCHTER

Representing hinsel f

Eagle River, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SB 201.

JEFF JACOBSON, chief of staff

Representing Mayor Hopkins

Fai rbanks North Star Borough (FSNB), AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 201.

PAUL EVAN JR.

Representing Mayor N ck Al exie

City of Lower Kal skag

Lower Kal skag, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 201.

KATH E WASSERMAN, executive director

Al aska Muni ci pal League (AM.)

Juneau, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 201.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

3:39:16 PM

CHAIR DONALD OLSON called the Senate Community and Regional

Affairs Standing Conmttee neeting to order at 3:39 p.m Present
at the call to order were Senators Menard, Thomas, and d son

SENATE CRA COW TTEE - 2- March 25, 2010



SB 201- MUNI CI PAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTI ONS

3:39: 33 PM
CHAI R OLSON announced consi deration of SB 201.

SENATOR MENARD, sponsor of SB 201, yielded to her staff, M chael
Rovito, to present SB 201.

M CHAEL ROVITO, staff to Senator Menard, said SB 201 wll
i ncrease the anmpunt of the property tax exenption for seniors,
aged 65 and over, and disabled veterans, fromthe first $150, 000
of real property value to the first $200,000 of real property
value, but only if the state appropriates enough noney to
reinburse the municipalities for the 1loss of funds. The
commi ssioner of Commerce, Conmunity and Econom c Devel opnent
(CCED) would determine if enough noney has been appropriated to
rei nburse those nunicipalities. The exenption would also apply
to seniors, aged 60 and over, who are w dows or w dowers of
persons who qualified under one of the other two qualifications
for the exenption. SB 201 anmends AS 29. 45. 030.

3:41: 38 PM
SENATOR THOVAS said he assunmes the decision is up to the
conmm ssi oner of revenue.

MR. ROVITO said it would be the comm ssioner of CCED. The state
assessor's departnment falls underneath this departnent.

CHAI R OLSON asked how many other tines the state has rei nbursed
a municipality for |ost revenues from property tax.

MR ROVITO said the state assessor reports no reinbursenent
since 1996. A full reinbursenent was given in 1985, decreasing
every year thereafter, until 1996 when there was no funding.

CHAIR OLSON asked if M. Rovito was worried that the state's
ability to reinburse city and boroughs for lost taxes wll be
zero as incom ng revenue declines with pipeline production.

3:43: 58 PM
MR. ROVI TO agreed this is a concern.

CHAI R OLSON said the burden of funding municipal governnent wll
fall on the other property owners within the municipality.

MR ROVITOreplied that is correct.

SENATE CRA COW TTEE - 3- March 25, 2010



3:44: 40 PM

SENATOR MENARD commented that Alaska has a large and grow ng
senior population. Though the state has not funded such a
rei nbursenent since 1996, she wants a possible $200, 000
exenption limt on the books. Not all nunicipalities have to
utilize the full $200,000 exenption, but sone do have nore
revenue. She noted that a gas pipeline nay be com ng soon and
she wants this opportunity set for seniors, many of whom are on
fixed incones, and disabl ed veterans.

3:46: 47 PM
CHAIR OLSON said young famlies are working and struggling and
will bear the burden of property taxes. He noted his nother is

in her 80's and at | east does not have children to feed. Seniors
are on fixed budgets but often have |l ess to deal wth.

MR. ROVITO said seniors are concerned about value assessnents
changing while they are on a fixed incone. Sone seniors m ght
own their hone outright but cannot afford their property taxes;
their home can be taken. Younger people, however, do have to
bear the burden of property tax.

CHAI R OLSON asked if M. Rovito has any statistics show ng that
seniors' houses are repossessed by cities due to unpaid taxes.

MR. ROVITO replied he can get that information

3:49: 05 PM

SENATOR MENARD said she has heard runors [of seniors' hones
bei ng repossessed due to unpaid taxes]. Wen seniors get to the
point of losing their homes they becone a bigger burden on the
state. If nunicipalities get into a position where they can
afford to help seniors, SB 201 will have put a vehicle in place.

3:51: 07 PM
CHAIR COLSON said it sounds |like an unfunded nmandate and havi ng
too many tax credits can be a problem

SENATOR MENARD sai d, "the state can do this or t he
municipalities can do it"; they are both players in this
scenari o.

CHAIR OLSON asked if mnunicipalities do not currently have the
power to increase tax exenption for senior citizens.

SENATOR MENARD replied that is her understanding.

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -4- March 25, 2010



CHAIR OLSON asked if city government can do what SB 201 does,
but on a |ocal |evel.

3:52:22 PM

MR. ROVITO replied no, because this is state law and the state
is telling municipalities that this is how they have to do it.
He noted he would |like a chance to verify that.

CHAIR OLSON said he wants some information on how many seniors
have | ost their hones.

3:53:22 PM

SENATOR MENARD stated that if the property assessnents get too
hi gh, even a person who owns his or her honme may |ose the
ability to pay the property taxes. In this sense, a person never
owns his or her hone and could lose it.

3:54:10 PM

SENATOR THOVAS said an exenption up to $150,000 is allowed now
and up to $200,000 is allowed with an ordi nance approved by the
voters for three classifications people: a person 60 years or
ol der who is the wi dow or wi dower of a person who qualified for
an exenption, a person 65 years or older or a disabled veteran

O her property tax exenptions are at a naxi mum $20, 000.

3:55:10 PM

RAYMOND ROBERTS, representing hinself, Ketchikan, said SB 201 is
| ong overdue because of the unrealistic cost of honmes due to
inflation. Going on Medicaid costs the state far nore than
having seniors stay in their own hones. Seniors have seen the
state devel op and have shared in paying for its infrastructure.
Seniors are finding it hard to keep their hones; they are on a
fixed incone while nedical costs keep rising and insurance is
being cut. Costs have gone beyond the neans of nmany seniors in
Al aska; Pioneer Hones are now too costly to consider. Many
seniors built their own homes, with their own hands, when little
financing was available. Seniors helped build the state of
Al aska and need help to live here.

3:58: 52 PM
CHAI R OLSON thanked M. Roberts and his generation for building
Al aska. He asked how old M. Roberts is and if he has a famly.

MR. ROBERTS replied that he is 83 years old and has a daughter
a son, grandchildren and great-grandchildren.

SENATE CRA COW TTEE - 5- March 25, 2010



CHAI R OLSON asked if M. Roberts feels he is struggling with the
cost of living nore as a senior than as a young man wth
chi | dren.

MR. ROBERTS answered that he struggles nore now due to the rise
in costs of nedical care. He has to travel to Seattle for care
that is not available in Alaska. Living in Seattle for nonths at
a time is costly. Menbers of his generation are hard workers;
health prevents them from going out and earning extra noney now.
He reiterated that the cost of living is nore difficult now than
in his younger years.

4:01: 08 PM

ED ZASTROW president, AARP, Ketchikan, said that his AARP
chapter does not support increasing the exenption to $200, 000.
The chapter strongly feels that the $150,000 exenption 1is
adequate and additional burden on other tax payers in not
justified. He added that 572 hones enjoyed the $150,000
exenption in 2008. Now, in 2009, 634 hones do. That is a 10 or
11 percent increase. Exenptions have to be paid for by soneone.

4:03:51 PM

CHAIR OLSON asked what M. Zastrow says to seniors who are
struggling to keep up with taxes and are in danger of having to
| eave the state or | ose their house.

MR. ZASTROW replied that "tinmes are not like they used to be"
and many do struggle, but the percentage is snall. He said nmany
have come to the reality that eventually you cannot afford to
live in your home anynore. His |ocal AARP does everything it can
to educate and assist seniors with prograns available to them
Hi s | ocal AARP chapter's goal is to educate, informand assist.

4:05: 23 PM

SENATOR THOVAS asked about people, noving out of their homes to
a pioneer hone, where the cost for one nonth is probably equa
to the anobunt of exenpted taxes over two or three years.

MR. ZASTROW agreed that is a concern. He was the chairman of the
Pi oneer Hone Advisory Board for eight years and served on the
Al aska Commi ssion on the Aging. H's concern remains that the
i ncreased exenption wll cause nore of a burden on those who do
not get the exenption.

SENATOR THOVAS asked what M. Zastrow would say to organizations
that say ol der fol ks should go back to work.

SENATE CRA COW TTEE - 6- March 25, 2010



MR. ZASTROW replied that he hinself does work part-tine and
unfortunately sonetines that has to happen

4:07:12 PM

STEVE VAN SANT, state assessor, Anchorage, said under AS
29.45.050(i), municipalities have the option to increase the
$150, 000 exenption to an unlimted maxi mum For exanple, Kena

Peni nsul a Borough had an unlimted senior citizen exenption and
has since rolled that back to a $300,000 exenption. He also
corrected Senator Menard's earlier stated figures and said the
cost to fund the programto 2016 is $17, 300, 000.

CHAIR OLSON asked M. Van Sant to confirm that a nunicipality
does have the option to increase its tax exenption for a class
of residents.

MR. VAN SANT replied yes. He said nunicipalities have two
options. One, the hardship exenption, is under AS 29.45.030 and
is for those residents in a nunicipality who face hard tines and
cannot afford their taxes due to Ilow revenue. Under AS
29.45.050, there is an optional exenption above the current
$150, 000.

CHAIR OLSON asked if M. Van Sant is saying SB 201 is not
necessary.

MR. VAN SANT replied no, he is saying that under SB 201, another
$50, 000 woul d be added to the current nandated exenption if the
revenue loss to the municipality is reinbursed by the state.
Currently, based on AS 29.45.050, the municipalities may exenpt
nore than $150,000 at their own expense, with nothing to do with
state rei nbursenent.

CHAIR OLSON said he 1is <concerned that state revenue has
decreased. Many exenptions and benefits have been taken away and
muni ci palities al ready have hardship.

MR. VAN SANT agreed and said this program was funded until 1996
wi th about $1,100,000. The question is whether the state has an
extra $13 - $16 mllion to throw at this program He is not sure
where that noney would come from

4:11: 38 PM

SENATOR THOVAS asked M. Van Sant about the cost of people in
pi oneer homes versus the cost of reinbursing the taxes to
muni ci palities. He calculated that 53 years of the increased

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -7- March 25, 2010



property tax exenption would equal about one year at a pioneer
hone.

MR. VAN SANT agreed that the cost of a pioneer honme far exceeds
the possible loss in revenue from the exenption. However, he
poi nted out that pioneer honmes do not have enough room for all
seniors anyway; 22,000 seniors and 3,200 disabled veterans are
in the existing program today. Minicipalities have the ability
to help seniors in their own areas but cannot afford to do so.
The exenption would al so create a cost for other tax payers.

SENATOR THOVAS noted the potential pressure to build nore
pi oneer hones in the future. He also asked about the amounts
calcul ated for the fiscal note.

MR. VAN SANT explained that the fiscal note should show $12.9
mllion for Fiscal Year (FY) 2011 and $13.6 for FY 2012.

4:16: 33 PM
KELLY TAYLOR, deputy director, property appraisal, Mnicipality
of Anchorage, said Mayor Sullivan, of Anchorage, is not in

support of additional property tax exenptions. He encourages the
Legislature to fully fund the exenptions that are currently
mandat ed. The current $150,000 exenption is a good program and
has attracted seniors fromthe Lower 48.

M5. Taylor said SB 201 would benefit all senior citizens,
including those with the ability to pay, not just those with | ow
income levels. If SB 201 passes and the state funds the program
muni ci palities would provide the exenption to the appropriate
seniors. However, the state could decide not to fund the
exenption the following year forcing municipalities to renove
t he exenption and negatively inpact seniors.

4:20: 06 PM
SENATOR THOVAS asked Ms. Taylor if seniors are noving to Al aska
and buyi ng hores.

M5. TAYLOR answered that the total nunber of seniors is
significantly increasing, possibly outweighing the natural aging
of the popul ation.

SENATOR THOVAS asked if the increase in seniors can be
attributed to seniors noving to Alaska rather than to aging.

M5. TAYLOR suggested many factors contribute to the increase in
the senior population and she does not believe it can be

SENATE CRA COW TTEE - 8- March 25, 2010



attributed solely to the aging of the popul ation. She has heard,
anecdotally, from people who conme in to apply for the senior
citizen exenption, that they noved to Al aska because of it.

SENATOR THOMAS said that surprises him

SENATOR MENARD referred to M. Taylor's comment about SB 201
benefitting both those who can afford their property taxes and
those who cannot and commented that people cannot be punished
for being successful. She said she could care less if seniors
are very wealthy; many are philanthropists. There should not be
shane in giving exenptions to seniors who have done well.

4:23:14 PM

M5. TAYLOR said she agrees that if a provision is for all
individuals to receive a benefit, they certainly should.
However, the purpose of the senior citizen exenption was to aid
senior citizens' ability to stay in their hones as opposed to
| osing their hones to taxation. If the benefit is intended to go
to a specific population that 1is aging and financially
suffering, a disbursenent to a | arger pool has a | arger inpact.

CHAIR OLSON asked if the state does not «currently fully
rei nburse nmunicipalities for nandated exenpti ons.

4:25: 04 PM

M5. TAYLOR replied the senior citizen exenption program was
rei nbursed at 100 percent from 1973 to 1985. From 1985 - 1996,
t he percentage of reinbursement fromthe state went down to 6.2
percent . Since 1997, the state has not provided the
municipalities with any reinbursenent though they are required
to provide the senior citizen exenption.

CHAIR OLSON commented that it is a black eye for the state if
the state has not held up its end of the bargain in reinbursing
the nunicipalities. He asked if M. Taylor would be nore in
favor of this legislation if SB 201 proposed a needs-based
exenpti on.

M5. TAYLOR replied that the financial inpact to municipalities
without state funding for the program is in excess of $47
mllion. If the Legislature's intention is to provide relief to
senior citizens who are unable to pay taxes and are at risk of
|l osing their hones, a program could be developed to assist with
extreme hardship situations. M. Van Sant and M. Marty MGee
[ Assessor's Ofice, Property Appraisal Division, Minicipality of

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -9- March 25, 2010



Anchorage] previously presented this concept during the Al aska
Muni ci pal League conferences.

4:27:53 PM
CHAI R OLSON asked when the last time was that the nunicipality
forecl osed on a senior's honme for non-paynent of taxes.

M5. TAYLOR said she does not have that informati on on hand.

CHAIR OLSON said his staff wi | cont act her f or this
i nf or mati on.

NI CK BUCHTER, representing hinself, Eagle River, said a break on
taxes would help himand a | ot seniors.

JEFF JACOBSON, chief of staff, Fairbanks North Star Borough
(FSNB), said he was speaking on behalf of Mayor Hopkins and the
borough. FNSB is opposed to SB 201. Property tax oversight is a
| ocal governnent task. Tax exenptions for senior citizens have
growmn from $2 mllion in 1995 to over $6 mllion currently.
Wthout state reinbursenment since 1995, the borough handl es the
entire burden. AS 29.45.050(i) already allows nunicipalities to
i ncrease the exenption. FNSB encourages the state to fully fund
the existing exenption that has been unfunded since 1996. He
al so pointed out that expecting a municipality to elimnate a
tax exenption once it has been offered is unrealistic.

4. 31:56 PM

SENATOR THOVAS asked if the increase in senior tax exenptions
from$2 mllion to $6 mllion over the last 15 years is in part
attributed to the increase in taxes on senior's homes and not to
an increase in seniors noving to Al aska.

MR. JACOBSON replied that he cannot answer that specifically. He
noted that a denobgraphic study in interior Al aska showed that
nost ol der Al askans today noved here earlier, have stayed and
are aging here. That has increased the nunber of tax exenptions.

PAUL EVAN JR, City of Lower Kalskag, representing Myor N ck
Al exie, said he agrees that seniors should be exenpt up to
$150,000. He noted the situation is different under the Al aska
Land Clains Settlenment Act. He said he was taught to respect
ones' elders. Wth inflation and unenpl oynent going up, things
are hard in rural Alaska. He 1is listening to what the
Legislature is saying on this topic.

4:35:37 PM

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -10- March 25, 2010



CHAIR OLSON asked if M. Evan is aware that SB 201 would
increase the property tax exenption anpunt from $150,000 to
$200, 000. He asked if Lower Kal skag has a property tax.

MR. EVAN replied no. He noted he is trying to get a I|and
commttee to Lower Kal skag.

CHAIR OLSON said Lower Kalskag would have to be a first class
city to have property taxes and asked if Lower Kalskag has a
sal es tax.

MR. EVAN replied no, Lower Kal skag and Upper Kal skag do not have
sal es tax.

4:36:52 PM

KATH E WASSERMAN, executive director, Alaska Minicipal League
(AML), said AML opposed SB 201. Property tax authority lies with
the nmunicipalities. AS 29.45.030 promised that municipalities
woul d be reinbursed for the first $150,000 exenption but that
fell away. Due to the revenue sharing agreenent made two years
ago, when the state has |less noney fromoil, nunicipalities also
have less. Minicipalities are afraid of being stuck wth a
$200, 000 exenption. Minicipalities exenpt about $47 mllion
across the state; SB 201 will increase that to $60 nillion

Therefore, the $60 nillion that nmunicipalities receive in
revenue sharing to help provide basic services would only make
up for the state forced tax exenption. She also noted concern
about how the conm ssioner will deem how nuch is enough noney.

4:39: 59 PM

CHAIR OLSON asked Ms. Wasserman to comment on seniors who are
struggling to stay in their homes with the high cost of nedica
care.

M5. WASSERMAN replied that as a mayor of a small, first class
city, which collected property tax, she saw seniors struggling
but few conmunities would kick an older person out due to
inability to afford his or her property tax. She has not heard
of that happening. She pointed to the fact that a $150, 000
exenption is already given and sonme nunicipalities exenpt nore.

CHAIR OLSON pointed out that the increased exenption 1is
vol unt ary.

M5. WASSERMAN replied that the $150,000 exenption is not
vol untary. She commented that the $200,000 exenption is

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -11- March 25, 2010



voluntary if there is noney behind it and is voluntary this
year; she is worried about five years from now.

4: 42: 49 PM
CHAIR OLSON said he will hold SB 201 in conmittee.

SENATOR MENARD conmented that she is satisfied wth the
conversation that took place today. She is ¢trying to be
sensitive to seniors and she believes a day will conme that the
state will be able to fund the exenption. If the law is on the
books, the help will get relief to seniors faster.

4:43:49 PM

CHAIR OLSON, with no further business to conme before the
committee, adjourned the neeting at 4:43 p. m

SENATE CRA COW TTEE -12- March 25, 2010



